
Page 1 of 5 – February 26, 2025 
 

Board of Selectmen 

Meeting Minutes 

February 26, 2025 
 

Present: James Bailey, Chairman; Iris Campbell, Selectwoman; Laura Buono, Town Administrator 

 

Absent: Selectman Richard Pelletier 

 

Others are present: James Clough, George Goldsmith, Nicole Kofidis, Riche’ Colcombe, Arthur 

Burkowitsch, Kimberlee Hanson, Mark Lawson, Audrey Lawson, Bruce Randall, Shaun Kelley, 

John Segedy, Ruth Murphy, Amanda Blanchette, Taylor Blackwell, Loretta Blackwell, Kim 

Opperman, Susan Paul, Joan Rich, Bob Finch, Brenda Finch, Robyn Lacey, Tim Lacey, Dale 

Larocque 

 

Meeting opened at 6:00 pm 

Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

 

1. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 

None 

 

2. PARKS & RECREATION 

 

James Clough, Director of Youth Services and Parks & Recreation, met with the Board to talk 

about Manahan and Grimes Field.   He has sent out for engineering for both and received a quote 

from Gayle and the other from Fieldstone.  Mr. Clough is recommending the quote from 

Fieldstone.   

 

Fieldstone  Grimes $28,630 

Gayle   $39,100 plus $4,500 extra for subsurface utility location 

 

Fieldstone  Manahan $36,000 

Gayle  Significantly lower than Fieldstone (no cost mentioned) 

 

The engineering is for a better understanding of each parcel of land and what can be done with it.  

A study will also be done on what the public would like to see at Manahan.  Grimes is positioning 

of fields, moving outlet boxes to the middle of the fields, irrigation from the river, playground and 

parking.   

 

Chairman Bailey made a motion to use Fieldstone Engineering for Grimes and Manahan study.  

Selectwoman Campbell seconded the motion, the motion passed.  

 

Ms. Buono feels the price to use Grimes Field for the Summerfest should be renegotiated.  

Currently the organization pays the Town $500, which doesn’t cover the cost of wear and tear and 

repairs to the fields after Summerfest. She mentioned that in 2024, then organization had 

approximately $39,000 net income for the event before they distributed money to other 

organizations.  The Board agreed to discuss this further and Ms. Buono will invite the organizers 

in. 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 5 – February 26, 2025 
 

 

3. MEETING MINUTES 

 

Chairman Bailey made a motion to approve the meeting minutes dated January 23, 2025.  

Selectwoman Campbell seconded the motion, the motion passed.  

 

Chairman Bailey made a motion to approve the meeting minutes dated February 12, 2025.  

Selectwoman Campbell seconded the motion, the motion passed.  

 

 

4. MANIFEST 

 

Chairman Bailey made a motion to authorize the Selectmen to sign manifests and order the 

Treasurer to sign Payroll Check numbers 19969 – 19998 a/k/a Vouchers 8 & 9 in the amount of 

$270,757.70 (includes 219 direct deposit stubs) and Accounts Payable Check numbers 033369 – 

033436 a/k/a Vouchers 7 & 8 in the amount of $447,865.63.  Selectwoman Campbell seconded 

the motion, the motion passed. 

5. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Chairman Bailey made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda for February 26, 2025.  

Selectwoman Campbell seconded the motion, the motion passed.  

• Intent to Cut – Map 10 Lot 35 & Map 10 Lot 21 (Sulpher Hill Road) 

• Elderly Exemption – Map 24 Lot 37 

• Veterans Tax Credit – Map 24 Lot 37 

 

6. PETITION WARRANT ARTICLE  

 

Ms. Buono said that since one of the petition warrant articles that were received by the Selectmen 

had a money value with it (Article 14), the Board must either recommend or not recommend the 

article and will need to vote on that.  She said this is the article having to do with live streaming 

of the meetings and said that the motion should be made in the positive. 

 

Chairman Bailey made a motion to recommend warrant article 14. Selectwoman Campbell 

seconded the motion.  Motion failed by a vote of 2 – 0.   

 

7. WHITTEMORE ROAD PROJECT 

 

The Board will attend the Water Commissioners’ meeting on March 13 at 6:00 pm to discuss the 

road project.   

 

8. 45 SCHOOL STREET 

 

Ms. Buono updated the Board on the legal issue with John Penny, owner of 45 School Street.  She 

said the town has a court order to take the dilapidated barn down located at this location and we 

are moving forward with the testing for hazardous material as is required by the Dept. of 

Environmental Services (DES). She said that Mr. Penny has never accepted delivery of mail or 

email, nor has he allowed the Building Inspector to go onto the property. She said he changes his 

phone number every couple of months so it’s extremely difficult to communicate with him by 

design.   Ms. Buono said that in spite of that, the judge has allowed the Town to go on the property, 



Page 3 of 5 – February 26, 2025 
 

so the court order was taped to Mr. Penny’s front door along with a notice advising him as to when 

the testing will be done. She said throughout the legal process, Mr. Penny has claimed to have a 

disability in which he is not awake and able to do anything before 2:00 p.m., although he has not 

provided any documentation of an actual disability.  Regardless, the Town agreed to change the 

testing to 2:00 p.m. even though no one will be entering the barn or require information from him. 

Ms. Buono said that on February 25th, Mr. Penny went to a different court and tried to file a 

restraining order on the Town which was denied. He is now attempting to counter sue the Town 

for his time and the cost of seeking a restraining order and also wants the court awarded liens on 

his property for the towns legal fees to be dismissed, even though Mr. Penny has missed the 

window to appeal the Court’s decision.  She said by doing this, Mr. Penny continues to cost the 

Town money.  Ms. Buono said they were able to complete the necessary testing and are waiting 

for the results. She said that Mr. Penny came to the town offices after at 5:10 this evening (after 

the office had been closed) wanting to give the town paperwork as directed by the courts, but Ms. 

Buono told him he would have to serve our Town’s Attorney. Kimberlee Hanson, a resident in 

attendance, asked what happens to the contents inside the barn.  Ms. Buono said this legal issue 

has been going on for about 3 years due to the hazardous conditions of the barn and the fact that it 

is on a main road and very close to a neighbor’s property. She said the items in the barn are Mr. 

Penny’s responsibility to remove however, he has been granted many extensions by the Court to 

do something with the barn but has chosen not to. At this point, if he doesn’t remove items he 

wants to salvage, they will end up being removed with the structure. 

   

9. INFORMATIONAL MEETING FOR STANDARD POWER 

 

Chairman Bailey opened the informational meeting at 6:30 pm 

 

Ryan Folsom from Standard Power has been working with the town for a couple of years.  The 

primary goal is to provide the ability for small energy users the benefit of either stable rates or 

lower.  The program puts together the residents’ use and small businesses and some larger entities 

in the community to increase the buying power when going out to bid for pricing.   Mr. Folsom 

thanked the Energy Committee for all their efforts in helping to bring Standard Power to the 

residents.  

 

Eversource will remain as the utility and responsible for restoring power if there is an outage.  

Eversource will still bill for the usage, the only difference on the bill is the supplier which will be 

listed as Hillsborough Community Power along with the rate.  

 

• Tim Lacey asked if the billing would show one rate.  Mr. Folsom said yes, there will be a 

single rate for the term of the contract no matter how many kilowatt hours.  

• Someone asked if Eversource rates drop will Standard Power rates drop.  Mr. Folsom said 

no, the benefit of this program is the resident can opt. in or out at any time.   

Eversource changes their rate twice a year, February through July and August through 

January.  

• Riche’ Colcombe asked how many times a year Standard Power changes their rates.  Mr. 

Folsom said this contract is until November.  Standard Power strives for a longer-term 

contract and stable rates.  Eversource buys power twice a year with a three-day window to 

lock their rates in.   

• John Segedy asked how long it takes to opt. out.  Mr. Folsom said usually one meter read, 

if you opt out a week or sooner before the next meter read, Mr. Folsom said he will get a 

specific answer for Mr. Segedy, after this meeting Mr. Folsom will obtain Mr. Segedy’s 

contact information. 



Page 4 of 5 – February 26, 2025 
 

• Kim Hanson asked where Eversource buys their electricity from and where does Standard 

Power buy.  Mr. Folsom said utilities buy power on the whole sale market with a markup.  

Standard Power does the same with no markup. 

• Bob Finch confirmed that Standard Power contracted with Direct Energy.  Mr. Folsom 

confirmed Direct Energy won the bid.  Mr. Finch is currently buying from Direct Energy 

as well with a one cent difference and the same program as Standard Power.   

• Susan Paul asked if the rates changes need to go through Public Utilities for approval.  Mr. 

Folsom said the program gets approved by the Public Utilities Commission, then the PUC 

is updated with the rates every month.  Mr. Folsom said he will get more clarity on that for 

Ms. Paul.  Ms. Paul asked how much control the PUC has over what Standard Power sets 

for the rate, how do we know Standard Power is not arbitrarily increasing the rate.  Mr. 

Folsom said the plan and the actual contract that the town signed have language that 

prevents that, but Mr. Folsom said he will clarify that.  

• Arthur Burkowitsch asked why net metering customers is suggested to opt. out.  Mr. 

Folsom said those who have solar, there are two versions of net metering for those who 

have solar, net metering one which is pre 2017 and net metering two which is anything 

newer.  Standard Power encourages anyone with solar to call during this process to figure 

out what is best.  Mr. Burkowitsch asked when the contract is renewed will he need to opt 

out again.  Mr. Folsom said yes.   

• John Segedy asked if all the opened-ended questions could be answered and shown on the 

town website.  John also asked if someone could opt out by phone.  Mr. Folsom said he 

believes you can call Direct Energy and make that change, but the website is the easiest.  

Mr. Folsom will investigate the card that was mailed out that provides only the option to 

opt. out.   

• Dale Larocque asked the Board if they have considered developing their own delivery 

system as other towns have done to lower that cost.  Chairman Bailey is not sure the Board 

could do that.  

• Someone asked if Standard Power adds more communities will the cost be lower.  Mr. 

Folsom said buying power helps to a degree, once at a certain limit the decrease in pricing 

stops to matter, it comes down to market timing.  

• Shaun Kelley asked Mr. Folsom if he gets a flat fee for this program.  Mr. Folsom said one 

tenth of a cent per kilowatt hour.  Mr. Kelley asked if this program is exclusive to 

Hillsborough or can other people buy into this. Mr. Folsom said it is exclusive by zip code.  

• Susan Paul asked how many are signed up for this program.  Mr. Folsom said 28.  Ms. Paul 

asked if Hillsborough receives a kick back for this program.  Mr. Folsom said for this 

current program there is no kick back, that is a decision for the town to make.  Chairman 

Bailey said this program comes at no cost to the town, Standard Power does everything. 

• Kim Hanson said she has solar and since installation she has not paid anything to 

Eversource because they generate a lot of power and have a $500 surplus.  She asked what 

would happen with the money Eversource has bought back from them, also if she switched, 

does the buyback cost change.  Mr. Folsom recommends solar customers should call and 

discuss the changes to see if the program will work for them. 

 

 

10.  KIM OPPERMAN - PARKING 

 

Mr. Opperman talked to the Board about the downtown overnight parking changes and asked if 

more overnight parking could include the lot on W. Main St next to the church. Mr. Opperman 

owns two of the buildings across the street from that lot and he doesn’t own any parking with his 

apartment buildings. Chairman Bailey said this change began implementation in the fall with a 



Page 5 of 5 – February 26, 2025 
 

slow roll out and noted that this was after a couple of years of discussions as well as a public 

hearing.  Currently there are 27 overnight spots available, but there is no overnight parking in the 

lot Mr. Opperman would like to use for his tenants. That lot has earned the reputation of being a 

nuisance because individuals consistently park in that lot and don’t move for days and sometimes 

weeks. Chairman Baily said it’s not the town’s responsibility to provide landlords with parking.  

 

Ms. Buono said on the Economic Development side, the downtown parking had been discussed 

for years since it has been long anticipated that more businesses will be opened in that area. She 

some are in buildings that Mr. Opperman owns. She said the public has complained about the lack 

of parking as well as the fact that cars don’t move out of that lot and now, the Board has done 

something about it while also provided overnight parking options.  Mr. Opperman said the Town 

is going to stop grown downtown. Chairman Bailey said the Board is not stopping any growth in 

the downtown area.  Ms. Buono said that new businesses that have come to the downtown area 

and asked Mr. Opperman how not allowing overnight parking in that lot stop growth?  Mr. 

Opperman asked how he’ll be able to an apartment with no parking.   Chairman Bailey said that 

Mr. Opperman knew his buildings had no parking when he bought them, but there is overnight 

parking options available. 

 

George Goldsmith, who is a tenant in Mr. Opperman’s building, would like the Board to reconsider 

overnight parking at the lot on W. Main Street.  Ms. Buono said the overnight parking issue has 

been discussed for over 2 years with and the current plan was the outcome.  Chairman Bailey said 

no matter what the Town does there will always be someone unhappy. The Board will discuss 

tonight’s concerns in the future but will not guarantee any changes.   

 

Meeting adjourned at 7:48 pm  

A true record  

Mary Whalen  

Recording Secretary  

 

 

Date: ___________________ 

Approved by:  

Hillsborough Selectboard 

 

 

___________________________________ 

James C. Bailey, III, Chairman 

 

 

___________________________________  

Iris Campbell, Selectwoman 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Richard Pelletier, Selectman 


